STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 13 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Appeal from Colleton County  
Honorable James R. Barber III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-000922

MELVIN DANIEL,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

ASHLEIGH R. WILSON  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737  
#100269

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

I. Whether the post-conviction relief court erred by finding trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain an expert witness to testify a trial when counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's expert witnesses and attacked the State's medical evidence without the use of an expert witness and the lower court's prejudice finding was based solely on counsel's hindsight testimony?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 18, 2007, the Respondent proceeded to a trial by jury and was convicted of homicide by child abuse. He was sentenced by the Honorable Perry Buckner to confinement for twenty-years. The Respondent was represented at trial by Harris Beach, Esquire.

On May 10, 2004, EMS was dispatched to an apartment where the victim was found lying unresponsive on the couch with a large hematoma at the top of his forehead. (App. 73, 82). Earlier that day, the victim's mother had left the 14 month old child with the Respondent who had agreed to watch the child while she went to work. (App. 89-90). The victim's mother testified at trial that when she left the victim with the Respondent he was a healthy little boy and did not have any hematomas or contusions on his head. (App. 90). The Respondent provided a statement to police that he and the victim were running around the apartment when the victim tripped over a cable that was crossing the hallway. (App. 104).

At trial, the State presented the testimony of several medical experts who had examined the victim. First, the State presented the testimony of Dr. Joel Cochran. After examining the victim, Dr. Cochran concluded the victim's severe head injury was not consistent with a simple trip and fall. (App. 123-124). The State presented the testimony of Dr. Sarah Schuh who also examined the victim. (App. 134). Dr. Schuh testified the injury sustained by the victim caused significant bleeding above and around the victim's brain in several areas. (App. 137). Dr. Schuh also concluded the victim's injuries were not consistent with a simple trip and fall over a cord onto carpet by a healthy child. (App. 138). The State presented the testimony of Dr. William Vandergrift. Dr. Vandergrift testified he examined the victim and found significant injury to the victim's brain stem. (App. 143, 147).

The State concluded its case by presenting the testimony of Dr. Erin Presnell. Dr. Presnell performed the autopsy on the victim. (App. 156). She testified the final cause of the victim's death was abusive inflicted head trauma. (App. 157, 171). She testified further that severe injuries like the victim's are not typically seen from a running fall onto carpeted floor (App. 160:12-14). Dr. Presnell testified her finding of severe injury as the cause of death was not consistent with tripping over a wire and falling onto carpet. (App. 171:17-25).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Respondent's behalf and an appeal was perfected. Kathrine H. Hudgins of the South Carolina Office of Indigent Defense filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the Respondent's appeal. State v. Daniel, Op. No. 2010-UP-149 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 23, 2010). The Remittitur was issued on March 12, 2010.

The Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief on August 2, 2010. He amended his application on February 18, 2014. The Petitioner filed its Return on November 16, 2010. An evidentiary hearing was convened on February 20, 2014 at the Beaufort County Courthouse. The Respondent was present and represented by Gerald Maree, Esquire. Ashleigh R. Wilson, of the South Carolina Office of the Attorney General represented the Respondent. By Order dated March 31, 2014, the Honorable James R. Barber, III granted the Respondent a new trial on the basis that counsel was ineffective for failing to procure or retain expert testimony favorable to the Respondent. The Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Appeal. This Petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

The Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred by finding trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain an expert witness to challenge the State's medical testimony. The Petitioner submits the Respondent failed to carry his burden of proving counsel's performance was deficient and that but for counsel's performance the outcome of the Respondent's trial would have been different. This Court should grant this petition and reverse the lower court's ruling.

In a post-conviction relief action, the Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under "prevailing professional norms," not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom. Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052.)

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task." Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011). The Petitioner submits the Respondent did not satisfy either requirement of the Strickland test.

On appeal, "if no probative evidence exists to support the findings, the Court will reverse." Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615-16 (2011) (citing Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368-69, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005)).

**A. The lower court erred by finding trial counsel was deficient for failing to call an expert witness to challenge the State's expert testimony when counsel was able to vigorously cross-examine and attack the State's medical evidence without the use of an expert witness.**

The lower court erred by finding trial counsel was deficient for failing to call an expert witness to testify for the defense at trial. The Respondent claims counsel should have called an expert witness at trial to attack the testimony of the State's medical expert witnesses. The Petitioner submits this claim is without merit and the Respondent failed to present any evidence showing counsel's failure to call an expert witness was unreasonable.

The Respondent submits trial counsel's failure to call an expert witness at trial did not result in deficient performance since counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's medical experts and attacked the credibility of the State's evidence without the use of an expert witness. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held counsel's failure to procure an expert witness does

not render their representation deficient when counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence. Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008). See also Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 160-61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991) (holding counsel was not deficient for failing to procure an expert witness to challenge the DNA evidence presented at trial when trial counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's DNA experts and attacked the accuracy of the evidence).

The purpose of cross-examination at trial is "to show a prototypical form of bias on the part of the witness, and thereby to expose to the jury the facts from which jurors could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness." State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 451, 602 S.E.2d 62, 71 (Ct. App. 2004) aff'd as modified, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007) (citing Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)).

The Petitioner submits counsel thoroughly cross-examined each of the State's medical experts at trial. The State presented the testimony of Dr. Cochran who examined the victim and testified the victim's injuries were not consistent with a slip and fall over a cord. (App. 123-124, 126). Trial counsel cross-examined Dr. Cochran on retinal hemorrhaging and whether the victim's injuries could have been consistent with multiple falls (App. 126). Dr. Cochran also admitted during counsel's cross-examination that he did not remember the victim having a hematoma on his forehead when he examined him. (App. 125). Lastly, counsel cross-examined Dr. Cochran on the lack of evidence showing the victim's injuries were sustained by a violent shaking. (App. 127).

The State presented the testimony of Dr. Schuh who also examined the victim and testified the victim's injuries were not consistent with a slip and fall. (App. 138). Trial counsel cross-examined Dr. Schuh on the fact that an injury found on the victim's chin was consistent

with being intubated. (App. 139-140). Counsel also elicited testimony from Dr. Schuh about the short time she spent examining the victim and the fact that she was an employee of the State of South Carolina. (App. 140-141).

The State presented the testimony of Dr. William Vandergrift. Dr. Vandergrift examined the victim and found significant brain dysfunction. (App. 144). On cross-examination by trial counsel, Dr. Vandergrift admitted he did not remember the victim having a hematoma on his head when he initially saw the victim. (App. 151). Dr. Vandergrift also testified that if the victim had fallen, the hematoma on the victim's forehead could indicate where the victim's injury occurred. (App. 151).

The State presented the testimony of Dr. Erin Presnell. Dr. Presnell was the forensic pathologist who did the victim's autopsy. (App. 156). Dr. Presnell testified the final cause of the victim's death was abusive inflicted head trauma. (App. 171). Dr. Presnell also testified that the victim's severe injuries were not consistent with tripping over a wire and falling on a carpet. (App. 171). On cross-examination by defense counsel, Dr. Presnell conceded that "there are falls from certain distances that can do internal damage." (App. 172:22-25). She also mentioned articles and medical literature to support the proposition that single head trauma can result from short falls. (App. 175). Counsel also cross-examined Dr. Presnell on whether multiple falls could produce a cumulative injury and how fast symptoms of this type of injury would appear. (App. 173-176).

The record reflects trial counsel conducted medical research, reviewed medical literature, spoke to a medical doctor, and reviewed the victim's medical records to find information that would support the Respondent's version of events. (App. 378:16-24, 379:2-6, 380:5-8, 381:4-12, 384:14-385:7, 389:11-25, 406:5-13). The Petitioner submits trial counsel conducted extensive

investigative research on the injuries sustained by the victim and was well prepared to cross-examine the State's medical experts on their findings.

Based on the testimony trial counsel elicited from the State's expert witnesses on cross-examination, counsel was also able to further attack the State's medical evidence during his closing argument. During closing, trial counsel argued the following based on the testimony of the State's medical experts: the medical experts were hired by the State to bolster the State's evidence, Dr. Cochran did not recall the victim or the victim's injuries, Dr. Shuh was a hired gun whose conclusions were not very extensive and left room for reasonable doubt, Dr. Vandergrift testified it would take 24 hours for the victim's injuries to manifest and the victim was not in the hands of the Respondent during the previous 24 hour period, and the experts disagreed on whether or not the victim's injuries would manifest immediately. (App. 237-251).

While counsel could have retained a medical expert to testify at trial, counsel should not be held deficient for simply choosing an alternative means to challenge the State's medical evidence. In this case, it is well within the bounds of reasonableness, for this Court to conclude that trial counsel could follow a strategy that did not require the use of experts. See Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 789, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011) (recognizing the viability of cross-examination in lieu of an independent expert and that there is no right to an equal and appropriate expert to the prosecution expert).

The lower court erred because its deficiency finding was not based on a standard of reasonableness, but rather, based on the fact that the Respondent simply presented a plausible alternative method to challenge the State's medical evidence during his post-conviction relief proceeding. The relevant question is not whether counsel could have hired an expert witness, but rather whether the alternative means to challenge the State's evidence employed by counsel was

reasonable. See Bonin v. Calderon, 59 F.3d 815, 834 (9th Cir. 1995) (finding the presentation of expert testimony is not necessarily an essential ingredient of a reasonably competent defense). Trial counsel's failure to procure an expert witness did not render his representation deficient when counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's witnesses and attacked the accuracy of the evidence. The Petitioner submits the Respondent failed to carry his burden of proving counsel's failure to obtain an expert witness was unreasonable under professional norms.

**B. The lower court erred by finding trial counsel's performance prejudiced the Respondent when the lower court's finding was based on hindsight and it is unlikely the incredible testimony of the expert witness presented by the Respondent at the evidentiary hearing would have affected the outcome of the Respondent's trial.**

The lower court erred by finding counsel's failure to obtain an expert prejudiced the Applicant's defense. The lower court found counsel's deficiency "prejudiced the Applicant's defense in the following particulars: A. Trial counsel testified that the testimony given by Dr. Mark Shuman would have assisted the defense in preparation of the testimony of the State's medical experts at trial; B. Trial counsel testified that the testimony given by Dr. Mark Shuman would have assisted the defense in mitigating the testimony of the State's medical experts at trial." (App. 498-499). The Petitioner submits the lower court erred by relying solely on trial counsel's hindsight testimony to support its finding of prejudice.

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight." Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 6, 124 S.Ct. 1, 157 L.Ed.2d 1 (2003). A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). "After an adverse verdict at trial even the most experienced counsel may find it difficult to resist asking

whether a different strategy might have been better, and, in the course of that reflection, to magnify their own responsibility for an unfavorable outcome. Strickland, however, calls for an inquiry into the objective reasonableness of counsel's performance, not counsel's subjective state of mind." Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 790, 178 L. Ed. 2d 624 (2011).

It is clear from the record that at the time of trial, counsel was unable to locate an expert witness to advance the defense's theory of the case and counsel felt he could adequately challenge the State's medical evidence without the use of an expert. Counsel stated at the evidentiary hearing that at the time of trial he felt he was able to adequately challenge the testimony of the State's experts without the use of an expert witness. (App. 412:9-12). The Petitioner submits the lower court erred in finding prejudice solely on the basis of counsel's hindsight testimony.

The Petitioner submits the Respondent also failed to carry his burden of proving that there was reasonable probability Dr. Mark Shuman's testimony would have affected the outcome of his trial proceeding. In order to prove counsel's performance was ineffective, a defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment. Id. at 693. It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test, and not every error that conceivably could have influenced the outcome undermines the reliability of the result of the proceeding. Id.

The Petitioner submits that Dr. Shuman's testimony, if presented by trial counsel, would not have affected the outcome of the Respondent's trial. At the evidentiary hearing, the Respondent presented the testimony of Dr. Mark Shuman, a forensic pathologist from Miami, Florida. Dr. Shuman testified he did not agree with Dr. Presnell's conclusion that the victim's injuries could not be sustained from a simple trip and fall. (App. 441:15-21). Dr. Shuman testified further that he believed to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the victim's death was accidental. (App. 446:25-447:2). The Petitioner notes the lower court made no findings regarding the credibility or believability of Dr. Shuman's testimony.

The Petitioner submits the incredible basis for Dr. Shuman's testimony makes it unlikely his testimony would have resulted in a favorable verdict for the Respondent. The theme of Dr. Shuman's testimony at the evidentiary hearing was essentially "[s]ince everything fits, that's what happened." (App. 454:6-14). During his testimony, Dr. Shuman repeatedly stated that one of the key bases for his conclusion that the victim's injuries were accidental and not abusive was the fact that the Respondent's story of the victim falling over a cord "fit" the injuries. After reviewing the Respondent's statement to police and concluding both were "credible" and "plausible" solely based on his review of the statement, Dr. Shuman testified his explanation differed from that of Dr. Presnell because he was "taking into account and not discounting his [the Respondent's] story because his story is plausible and that's what he said happened from the beginning before the child even was really –they didn't even know how badly injured the child was at the time when he first told the story... knowing that short falls like this can cause this and that it fits. Since everything fits, that's what happened." (App. 445:9-12, 454:6-14).

The Petitioner submits Dr. Shuman's testimony and conclusions were supported by very little medical knowledge or independent scientific research. His conclusions were also always

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