ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Colleton County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 3 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

MELVIN DANIEL,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000922

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the post-conviction relief court erred by finding trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain an expert witness to testify at trial when counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's expert witnesses and attached the State's medical evidence without the use of an expert witness and the lower court's prejudice finding was based solely on counsel's hindsight testimony?

COUNTER-QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether there was any evidence to support the post-conviction relief court's ruling that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain the services of a medical expert where the trial court found an expert was "necessary for [petitioner's] defense," allocated fifteen thousand dollars for an expert, and where trial counsel did not even utilize available medical research left for him by prior trial counsel for impeachment of the state's experts at trial, and where forensic pathologist, Dr. Mark Shuman, testified at the PCR hearing that to a reasonable degree of medical certainty the child's head trauma was the result of an accident as respondent had told the police?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent, Melvin Daniel, was indicted by the Colleton County Grand Jury for the offense of homicide by child abuse. App. 8, ll. 7-9. The indictment alleged that respondent “under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life, to wit: Melvin Daniel, II did cause severe head trauma to [the child], consisting of retinal damage, swelling of the brain, also known as ‘Shaken Baby Syndrome’ then delayed contacting medical or law enforcement assistance for approximately two hours.” App. 350.

Respondent was originally represented by Andrew Grimes. Counsel Grimes stated that he believed the head trauma “was an accident, it was caused by a short fall and [he] researched a lot of medical journals, talked to Dr. Presnell [the state’s pathologist], went down and met with her at MUSC, and was put in contact with Dr. John Plunkett who had done a lot of research and published in this area in preparation for trial.” Grimes remembered: “I think even Dr. Presnell agreed it wasn’t Shaken Baby” App. 422, l. 3 – 423, l. 8. Grimes left the Colleton County Public Defender’s Office for the Charleston County Public Defender’s Office prior to respondent’s case being called to trial. App. 420, ll. 5-25.

When respondent’s case was called to trial on July 16-18, 2007 before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner and a jury, respondent was represented by Colleton County Public Defender Harris Beach. Steve Knight was the solicitor. App. 1.

Beach acknowledged that prior counsel Grimes had “done a considerable amount of research, and he contacted the Listserve to see if other people had other ideas about the case, and he did computer research on finding articles about the particular charge, and so I would say he probably did at least fifty percent of the work on the case I inherited a pretty complete file.”

App. 375, ll. 1-12. Beach also told the PCR judge that he had “ample time” to prepare for trial.

App. 375, ll. 22-25.

At the PCR hearing, the following occurred on direct examination of Beach:

Q. Some of the things that you mentioned that Mr. Grimes had done prior to you assuming responsibility of the case, do you recall him obtaining an order of the Court for expert funding?

A. I do not.

Q. You don't recall him obtaining that order?

A. He may have, but off the top of my head I don't recall it. I know that is probably something he would have done but –

Q. That sounds like something he would have done.

A. Yes.

Q. You're familiar with working beside him, that's something he normally he would have done?

A. Yes. He's very thorough, and I enjoyed working with him.

Q. If I showed you a copy of that order, would it refresh your memory?

A. It may very well.

MR. MAREE: May I approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: You may.

THE WITNESS: I do recall seeing this order.

Q. And it indicates that you all had obtained \$15,000 to apply towards expert funding fees, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And it was signed by Judge Daniel Pieper?

A. Judge Pieper, yes.

App. 376, ll. 4 – 377, ll. 1-4.

The order signed by Judge Pieper stated that “counsel [Grimes] for the defendant believes that these funds are absolutely necessary to ensure the proper investigation and preparation of this defense in this matter.” Judge Pieper ruled that the “\$15,000 for obtaining the services of a medical expert were “reasonable and necessary” for his defense. App. 475 – 476.

Beach acknowledged that he did not hire an expert despite the existence of the funding order. Beach said he talked to his own doctor about the case, and the defense of accident. The following occurred under direct examination of Beach at the PCR hearing in this regard:

Q. And he [Beach’s own doctor] could not help you or point you in the right direction any kind of way?

A. He was very discouraging. He said he did not feel that what I was arguing fit the facts of the case.

Q. Did you attempt to speak to anybody who was a forensic pathologist?

A. No, I did not.

Q. In the file that you inherited from Andrew Grimes were there any communications that you were able to review where Mr. Grimes had communicated with forensic pathologists?

A. There may have been. I don’t recall any right offhand.

Q. But you did get a chance to review the file?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember the name of Dr. John Plunkett at all?

A. That name is familiar but I don’t – I don’t specifically remember him, but I do remember the name.

Q. Do you remember reviewing any literature written by Dr. John Plunkett that was left in the file when you inherited it?

A. I may have. There was a pile of different articles. I read all of them.

Q. If you read it, do you recall the substance of the article?

A. No.

Q. If I would give you a copy of that article today, would it refresh your memory?

A. Probably not. There was so many of them and – there were so many medical articles on that particular charge, I doubt very seriously – I'd have to go back through and reread the whole thing.

Q. Well, would it, do you recall whether any of the material you read in the articles was helpful to my client's position?

A. I don't think any of them were.

Q. So do you remember the substance of the articles?

A. No.

Q. You just don't remember today or you just – what are you telling me? You don't remember it today as we speak?

A. I don't remember what was in the individual articles.

Q. But there were a lot of articles?

A. A lot of articles, yes.

Q. Do you have any kind of notes today –

A. No.

Q. -- of anything that you may have kept on the file?

A. No.

Q. No handwritten notes?

A. No.

Q. So you can't tell us today any substance of the articles that Andrew Grimes left for you to review?

A. That's correct.

App. 378, l. 25 – 380, l. 24.

Beach also testified that he did not recall any of the research left by Andrew Grimes that dealt with “the specific issue of short-fall and traumatic injury.” App. 381, ll. 13 – 20.

Beach said he thought there was an order allowing him to visit the “crime scene,” which was the house where the injury to the fifteen month old child occurred, but Beach said he chose not to visit the house reasoning his photographs of it were good enough. App. 354; 382, l. 12 – 383, l. 7.

Beach also opined at the PCR hearing that he did not think any of the medical research in the file left to him by Grimes was contrary to anything the state's experts said during the trial. Beach also offered that he was well aware that the state was going to call a forensic pathologist, another expert in “pediatric abuse,” and a neurosurgeon from MUSC. App. 384, l. 14 – 385, l. 11. Beach said he did not think any of the medical research left to him by Grimes had conclusions or research contrary to the testimony of the state's experts, and could have been used to impeach them. App. 385, ll. 12 – 20.

Beach said he was not familiar with an article published by Dr. John Plunkett. “I remember the name, but I can't tell you today that I am familiar with it.” App. 385, ll. 17 – 20. In fact, Grimes had conversed with Dr. Plunkett by email, and he also met personally with pathologist Dr. Presnell in Charleston about respondent's case. App. 423, l. 6 – 426, l. 8.

Dr. Plunkett's article, Fatal Pediatric Head Injuries Caused by Short-Distance Falls, noted that Dr. Plunkett had obtained records from law enforcement, EMS, and determined that eighteen of one hundred and fourteen deaths “in the clearinghouse database were actually from head injuries

due to a fall. The eighteen case studies referred to short falls from a “porch swing,” a “see-saw,” a “baby carrier-type swing,” and described other short falls that resulted in death. App. 478–483.

The fifteen month old in this case, Respondent told the police in his May 10, 2004 statement introduced at the PCR hearing, fell while he was babysitting him. The child was “running around the house when he tripped over the cable between the hallway and his sister’s room.” Respondent picked the child up and put ice on him. While the child cried initially, he eventually stopped crying and watched cartoons while lying on the couch. The child fell asleep watching cartoons, but when respondent went to wake him, the child did not react. Respondent tried to wake the child up by giving him a cold bath, and when that did not work, respondent called his sister for assistance. They called 9-1-1 for EMS to respond. App. 491 – 492.

The article concluded, inter alia, that a short fall for an infant or child “may cause fatal head injury and may not cause immediate symptoms. The injury may also be associated with retinal hemorrhages and subdural hematoma.” The article concluded, “a history by the caretaker that the child may have fallen cannot be dismissed.” App. 486.

During the trial, the pathologist, Dr. Erin Presnell, opined that the cause of death was “abuse of inflicted head trauma.” App. 171, ll. 20 – 25. At the beginning of the cross-examination, Dr. Presnell confirmed to Beach that she did not think the injury was the type that would happen from a trip and fall. App. 172, ll. 5 - 21. The following occurred on cross-examination of Dr. Presnell:

Q. If the child had been involved in falls immediately prior to this within two days of this injury. Could that not have a cumulative effect that would give you the same effect as you have here?

A. No. It still wouldn’t be a sheer injury. I would think it more a something like a motor vehicle crash or something a lot more severe. **I know there are some studies on the literature that have looked at kids on swings or see-saws that again have motion before they fall but aren’t**

necessarily falling from a really high height but a lower height but again, other circumstances that go along with the description of how the injury actually happened.

App. 173, ll. 5 – 17. (emphasis added)

At the PCR hearing, Beach said he remembered this exchange and he said he did not know why he did not cross-examine Dr. Presnell with the medical literature in his possession that was contrary to her position. App. 387, ll. 10 – 388, l. 2. Beach acknowledged such cross-examination would have been reasonable, responsible, and that it could have helped Respondent’s defense. It seems apparent that Dr. Presnell was prepared to be challenged with the article because of her discussions with prior trial counsel Grimes, but trial counsel Beach was not prepared to follow-up on the opening Dr. Presnell gave him. App. 387, ll. 20 – 388, l. 10.

Dr. Sara Shuh was retired from the Medical University of South Carolina Department of Pediatrics at the time of trial, but she still worked there part time. When the solicitor went to qualify her as an expert in pediatric child abuse, Defense Counsel Beach refused the judge’s invitation to “cross-examination as to the qualifications.” Instead of cross-examining Dr. Shuh, Beach simply offered that it was up to the state to present her qualifications. After several questions by the solicitor, Defense Counsel Beach did not object to Dr. Shuh’s qualification. App. 131, l. 14 – 133, l. 24. Dr. Shuh testified she did not believe the child’s injuries “came from a simple fall on the carpet.” App. 138, ll. 14-18.

The cross-examination of Dr. Shuh was only two full transcript pages long, it was very generic, and elicited that while Dr. Shuh testified more often for the prosecution that she had also testified “for defense attorneys and for plaintiff attorneys who are not associated with the state.” App. 139, l. 20 – 141, l. 18.

At the PCR hearing former counsel Grimes testified he would have impeached Dr. Shuh with a transcript of a speech she had given to effectively show her bias “against defense attorneys.” Grimes remembered he had used this transcript in a prior PCR hearing in Dorchester County before Judge Goodstein in a criminal sexual conduct with a minor case. Grimes said he was intending to use the transcript of the speech about her bias against the defense to impeach Dr. Shuh at trial. He he could not say with absolute certainty that the transcript of the speech was in the case file. Regardless, Dr. Shuh was not impeached by Beach about her bias at trial. App. 429, l. 16 – 431, l. 13.

At respondent’s trial, the state presented two other medical experts. Dr. Joel Cochran was qualified without objection as an expert in pediatric critical care medicine. He worked at Medical University of South Carolina. App. 119, l. 12 – 120, l. 22. Dr. Cochran also opined that the injury was not consistent with a simple “trip and fall over a cord.” App. 123, ll. 13-15.

Finally, the state presented the testimony of Dr. Alex Vandergrift who also worked for the Medical University of South Carolina. App. 142, l. 23 – 143, l. 10. Dr. Vandergrift testified the child suffered a “severe injury.” Dr. Vandergrift was not qualified as an expert before giving his opinion. App. 147, ll. 6-7. The cross-examination of Dr. Vandergrift by Defense Counsel Beach was barely one page long. See App. 150, l. 23 – 151, l. 25.

During the PCR hearing Beach admitted that he did not talk to the state’s experts prior to trial. He offered that he reviewed their reports, and “I knew their reputation, and I knew what they were going to bring to trial... .” App. 406, ll. 5-13.

On cross-examination by the assistant attorney general, Beach opined that he thought his cross-examination of the state’s experts at trial “was sufficient.” He added: “The state’s expert

witnesses were really primed.” Beach also testified the state’s witnesses were “very arrogant,” and he thought this may have come across to the jury. App. 407, l. 10 – 408, l. 4.

Defense Counsel Beach also claimed that he had discussed the case with prior counsel Grimes at the Public Defender’s Conference, and at the meeting of the South Carolina Bar Association, at that separate conference. App. 415, l. 18 – 416, l. 3. The following occurred on direct examination of Andrew Grimes:

Q. [T]he testimony of Attorney Beach indicated that he spoke to you at least on two occasions concerning this case with Melvin Daniel after you left the public defender’s office. Do you recall talking with him about Mr. Daniel’s case?

A. I heard the last part, what he said about at the public defenders’ conference and criminal law update by the bar, and **I may have asked or touched base with him at the public defender conference. You know, I can’t recall any specific conversation with him about Mr. Daniel’s case. And I’m probably 100 percent sure I never talked to him at the bar criminal law update because I stopped going to those since I get all CLE credits through the public defender conference.**

Q. Did he ever communicate with you in any way to confirm with you as far as strategy on Mr. Daniel’s case?

A. No, sir.

App. 431, l. 14 – 432, l. 5. (emphasis added).

Dr. Mark Shuman was the associate medical examiner for Miami-Dade County. He was a medical doctor having graduated from the University of Pittsburgh Medical School in 1993, and he did a general surgical residency at Washington Hospital in Washington, D.C. After he moved to Miami he did four years of anatomic and clinical pathology at Jackson Memorial Hospital, and then did a 1-year forensic pathology fellowship in the Miami-Dade County Medical Examiner

Department. He was board certified in anatomic, clinical and forensic pathology. App. 534, l. 18 – 436, l. 9. He was qualified as an expert in forensic pathology without objection during the PCR hearing. App. 436, l. 22 – 437, l. 9.

Dr. Shuman explained that “in forensic pathology basically what we do in every case is we examine bodies, and we have to look at what we see in the body and correlate it to what we’re told happened. That’s the only thing we can do. We can’t look at the body and make something up about something happened, and we look at the body and we see what the findings are, we can say it is or is not consistent with the story that we’re given” App. 439, ll. 4-17.

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